IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable W. Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 17 2015

SC Court of Appeals

C.A. No.: 2013-CP-43-02284
Appellate Case No.: 2014-002215

Arrowpoint Capital Corporation/Arrowood Indemnity Co., Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Second Injury Fund, Respondent,

IN RE: Mary McConico, Employee,

v.

Yuasa-Exide, Inc., Employer, and Arrowpoint Capital Corp./Arrowood Indemnity Co., Carrier

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Vernon F. Dunbar, Esquire
McAngus Goudelock and Courie
55 East Camperdown Way, Suite 300
Greenville, SC 29601
Telephone: 864-239-4000

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in denying Appellant's claim for reimbursement from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund when all the requisite elements necessary for reimbursement from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund were met pursuant to *Section 42-9-400* of the South Carolina Code of Laws?
- II. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission legally err in its interpretation of *Section 42-9-400* of the South Carolina Code of Laws by ignoring the plain meaning of the statute and case law and requiring that any pre-existing conditions are manifest prior to the employee's hire and engagement of the required work activities?
- III. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission legally err and abuse its discretion in determining that Appellant's claim for reimbursement was not timely filed and is barred pursuant to *Section 42-7-320(B)(2)*, when twenty-five (25) years of in-house medical records and expert medical reports reflect pre-existing medical conditions were aggravated by lead exposure during the employee's employment tenure at Yuasa-Exide?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mary McConico, Employee/Claimant, alleged that she suffered with heavy metal poisoning, a stroke, and hypertension because of chronic and acute lead exposure from May 4, 1974 to July 31, 1999. Mary McConico [hereinafter "McConico"] sustained a permanent disabling stroke on her last date of employment in 1999.

Pursuant to a Commission-ordered mediation, McConico resolved her worker's compensation claim against Yuasa-Exide, Inc., Employer, by virtue of a Settlement Agreement, Release and Order (Clincher). In particular, McConico was paid \$110,000.00 in indemnity benefits to resolve her allegations of an alleged compensable injury or occupational disease. No monies were paid for past, present or future medical treatment. Yuasa-Exide, Inc., and Arrowpoint Capital Corporation, a/k/a Arrowood Indemnity Company [hereinafter "Appellant" or "Appellants"] resolved or clinched this case on a doubtful and disputed basis.

Appellant subsequently filed a Form 54 requesting reimbursement from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund for indemnity benefits paid. (R. p. 72). The Form 54 stated that McConico had pre-existing conditions of heavy metal poisoning, diabetes, cardio vascular or cardiac disease, arthritis, hypertension, gout and coronary artery disease, which were aggravated by McConico's repeated and/or cumulative exposure to lead on her last day of employment on July 31, 1999. Appellant alleged that the aggravation of the preexisting conditions because of injurious lead exposure qualified Appellant to obtain reimbursement from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund [hereinafter "the Fund" or "Respondent"]. Appellant also asserted in the Form 54 that McConico's pre-existing conditions, which were diagnosed and treated during her twenty-five (25) year employment, combined with other health maladies to render her permanently disabled. (R. p. 72).

The Fund filed a Form 55 denying liability for the requested indemnity reimbursement. (R. p. 73). An adjudicatory hearing was held by the Honorable Andrea C. Roche, the Hearing Commissioner, on August 13, 2012. On December 19, 2012, the Hearing Commissioner promulgated an Order denying Second Injury Fund reimbursement to Appellant. (R. pp. 40-57). From this Decision, Appellant timely filed an appeal to the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Full Commission. (R. pp. 78-79). The Fund also appealed the Hearing Commissioner's Decision and Order. (R. p. 80). Specifically, the Hearing Commissioner had overruled the Fund's objection to the introduction of post-employment medical records, and concluded such were not untimely submitted.

On November 21, 2013, the Full Commission promulgated a Decision and Order affirming in part the Hearing Commissioner's decision denying Second Injury Fund reimbursement to Appellant. (R. pp. 22-38). From this decision, Appellant timely filed an appeal to the Sumter County Court of Common Pleas. By Order dated September 5, 2014 and filed on November 24, 2014, the Sumter County Court of Common Pleas promulgated an Order affirming the Decision and Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. (R. pp. 1-21). From this Order, Appellant appeals to this Honorable Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mary McConico, Employee/Claimant, is a 68-year old female, who worked at Yuasa-Exide and its predecessor companies from March 4, 1974 to July 31, 1999. (R. pp. 155, 212 and 218). During McConico's first nine years of employment, she worked for ESB, Inc. Over the next eight years, McConico worked at the Exide Corporation. (R. p. 212). In June 1991, Yuasa purchased the Sumter Industrial Battery Division of Exide Corporation. McConico was retained as an employee and began working for Yuasa-Exide, Inc. and later Yuasa, Inc. (R. pp. 218, 308-310).¹ While at work for Yuasa-Exide, Inc., in 1999, McConico

¹ The employment records reflect McConico worked for ESB, Inc. on March 19, 1979 as is reflected in a claim for disability benefits in R. p. 308. Records dated October 23, 1983 reflect McConico worked for Exide (R. p. 212). At the time of McConico's last exposure to lead, she worked for Yuasa, Inc. (R. pp. 311-315).

suffered an aneurysm and stroke. McConico was medically deemed totally disabled from returning to work. McConico began receiving long-term company disability benefits and Social Security disability benefits. (R. pp. 316-320 and 339).

Medical Health History Questionnaires completed by McConico during her employment tenure with ESB, Inc., the Exide Corporation and later with Yuasa-Exide reflected a family history of diabetes, rheumatism and arthritis. (R. pp. 157, 160, 166, 172 and 183).

Over 25 years, McConico was treated by the physicians in the medical departments of ESB, Inc., Exide Corporation, Yuasa-Exide, and Yuasa, Inc. for anemia, high blood pressure, kidney dysfunction, hypertension (cardiac disease) and peripheral neuropathy. (R. pp. 170, 174, 179, 181, 185, 187, 193, 195, 197, 199, 201 and 203-211). Each employer had complete knowledge of McConico's medical conditions.

When McConico first began working at the Battery Manufacturing Plant in 1974, her blood lead level was recorded at 7 micrograms per deciliter of blood. A normal blood level is less than 10 micrograms per deciliter of blood. The toxicology experts providing testimony in these lead exposure claims, state that the average blood lead level for the general population is 3 micrograms per deciliter of blood. (R. pp. 138, 141 and 467). From June 3, 1975 to May 2, 1985, McConico's blood lead levels ranged from 7 to 34 micrograms per deciliter of blood. (R. pp. 212-213). During this time, McConico worked for ESB, Inc. and the Exide Corporation.

From September 23, 1987 through July 18, 1995, McConico's blood lead levels ranged from 15 to 55 micrograms per deciliter of blood. (R. pp. 221-223). Specifically, on January 8, 1991, McConico was placed in the medical removal program (MRP) by the Exide Corporation because her blood lead levels exceed 36 micrograms per deciliter of blood over a three (3) month period in violation of industry standards. (R. p. 221). The records reflect that even after being

placed in the medical removal program, McConico's blood lead levels remained above 40 micrograms per deciliter of blood from March 6, 1991 through May 1992. (R. pp. 221-223).

From September 23, 1987 through July 18, 1995, McConico's blood lead levels ranged from 15 to 55 micrograms per deciliter of blood. (R. p. 223). The Exide records reflect that even after being placed in the medical removal program, McConico's blood lead levels remained above 40 micrograms per deciliter of blood from March 6, 1991 through May 1992. (R. p. 223).

Despite placing McConico in the medical removal program and taking extra safety precautions to decrease her blood lead levels, McConico's blood lead levels ranged from 27 to 47 micrograms per deciliter of blood from 1995 until her stroke. (R. pp. 223-231).

Industry regulations regulating lead exposure and OSHA regulations require an employee to be placed in the medical removal program ("MRP") when blood lead levels reach an unsafe level. (R. p. 536). Accordingly, McConico was placed on MRP on at least three (3) occasions. (R. pp. 221, 224-226). McConico's high blood lead levels constitute injuries from heavy metal poisoning during the times blood lead levels exceeded 36 micrograms per deciliter of blood over a six month period or 40 micrograms per deciliter of blood at any instance. (R. pp. 221-226).

Prior to McConico's employment at Yuasa Exide in 1992 and subsequent stroke, she suffered with severe cardiac disease or hypertension. McConico's blood pressure was recorded as follows:

190/110 (R. p. 179);	170/104 (R. p. 181);	162/102 (R. p. 172);	182/120 (R. p. 180);
180/100 (R. p. 195);	190/110 (R. p. 196);	170/108 (R. p. 184);	160/100 (R. p. 186);
172/104 (R. p. 201);	234/116, 224/120, 230/120, and 170/88 (R. p. 203);	160/94 (R. p. 191);	204/118 (R. p. 193); and
204/126 (R. p. 206)			

As a consequence of severe hypertension aggravated by acute and chronic exposure to

lead, McConico's cardiac disease resulted in a debilitating stroke. (R. pp. 312-314 and 467).

In support of its request for reimbursement, Appellant relies upon 25 years of in-house medical records and numerous expert reports. (R. pp. 138-231). First, the neuropsychological report of Dr. Randolph L. Waid, states that blood lead levels in the range of 10 to 19 micrograms per deciliter of blood can cause hypertension, kidney damage, and neurocognitive impairment. (R. p. 141). McConico was exposed to this level of lead during her employment enure with ESB and the Exide Corporation. Dr. Waid further opined McConico had also sustained brain damage with respect to neurocognitive functioning because of the stroke. (R. pp. 141-144).

Second, Dr. Eugene Shippen, Dr. Edward L. Baker and Dr. J. Routt Reigart, experts in the field of lead toxicology, completed Second Injury Fund Medical Questionnaires indicating that McConico's preexisting conditions of heavy metal poisoning, coronary artery disease, cardiovascular disease, arthritis and hypertension were aggravated by cumulative exposure to lead and resulted in her being permanently disabled. (R. pp. 138-140 and 146-151). Dr. Reigart's expert report was also submitted as evidence for Appellant's reimbursement request. Drs. Shippen, Baker and Reigart further opined that McConico's last episode of heavy metal poisoning and/or her cerebral vascular accident (stroke) combined with other maladies, i.e., diabetes and gout to render her disabled.

Company medical records comprising of approximately twenty-five (25) years of medical history; treatment records of McConico; and medical questionnaires from toxicology experts were submitted to the Fund on June 30, 2011, as required by *Section 42-7-320(B)(2)*. *S.C. Code Ann. §42-7-320(B)(2) (2015)*.

In addition to company medical records, post-employment medical records were submitted to the Fund by virtue of compact disc ("CD"). (R. pp. 232-306). The CD is an electronic copy of all the medical records generated after McConico's disabling stroke and medical care and treatment from 1999 to 2010. The CD contained a hyperlink rather than the medical documents, which was believed have been downloaded onto the CD. The Fund was unable to access the medical documents through the hyperlink. Thereafter, Appellant's counsel was notified in September, 2011 that the documents on the CD could not be retrieved. Within approximately three (3) days after receiving notice of the Fund's inability to retrieve the post-employment documents, the CD containing the same documents was hand delivered to the Fund.

The Fund alleged that Appellant's claim was barred by *Sections 42-7-310 and 42-7-320(B)(2) (2015)*. The Fund asserted that the documents were not timely submitted by the June 30, 2011, deadline, and therefore, were barred from consideration. *S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-7-310 and 42-7-320(B)(2) (2015)*.

The Hearing Commissioner rejected the Fund's argument that the post-employment documents were not timely submitted. (R. pp. 53-55). The Hearing Commissioner further concluded that *Section 42-7-320(B)(2)* did not act as a bar to Appellants' recovery in view of the other printed/written evidence submitted to and received by the Fund.

The Fund cross-appealed the Hearing Commissioner's Decision on this issue to the Full Commission. (R. p. 80). The Full Commission determined that the statute acted as a bar to Appellant's recovery, despite arguments of Appellant that the Fund had not proven that the post-employment medical documents constituted the required information as is required pursuant to *Section 42-7-320(B)(2)*. *Id.* (R. pp. 31-33). Further, Appellant contended that the post-

employment documents were not needed to meet its burden of proof in light of the expert reports and questionnaires and 25 years of in-house company medical records.

A. THE PURPOSE OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA SECOND INJURY FUND

The South Carolina Second Injury Fund was established to encourage employers to hire disabled or handicapped workers, or to retain employees who become partially disabled in the course and scope of their employment. The Fund provides reimbursement to an insurer or employer for compensation paid to an injured worker, who suffers increased permanent disability as a result of the preexisting condition and a subsequent workplace injury. The Fund was designed to encourage the employment and retention of disabled workers by providing financial relief to employers. Thus, the Fund removed any financial incentive an employer may have had to terminate a disabled worker who may increase the employer's liability. See generally State Workers' Comp. Fund v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 313 S.C. 536, 538, 443 S.E.2d 546, 547 (1994); Greenwood Mills v. Second Injury Fund, 315 S.C. 256, 257, 433 S.E.2d 846, 847 fn.1 (1993); Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 363 S.C. 612, 625, 611 S.E.2d 297, 303 (Ct. App. 2005); American Motorists Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 300 S.C. 17, 21-22, 386 S.E.2d 276, 278-79 (Ct. App. 1989).

B. APPLICABILITY OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA SECOND INJURY FUND STATUTE

The Second Injury Fund Statute as set forth in Section 42-9-400(d) lists thirty-three (33) medical maladies or conditions which constitute an irrebuttable presumption that the underlying pre-existing listed condition is permanent and constitutes a hindrance or obstacle to employment or re-employment. *S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-400(d) (2001)*. (R. pp. 591-592). McConico's pre-existing conditions of cardiac disease, arthritis and heavy metal poisoning are three of the statutorily listed conditions that existed prior to her last exposure to lead. *S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-400(d)(3)(4) and (22) (2001)*. (R. pp. 591-592). Despite these pre-existing medical conditions and impairments, Yuasa Exide continued to employ McConico.

Appellant provided proof of the pre-existing conditions of heavy metal poisoning and hypertension or cardiac disease by virtue of blood lead level reports, expert medical questionnaires, and company medical records dating from 1975 through 2000. (R. pp. 138-211 and 313). Accordingly, it is presumed as a matter of law that the pre-existing cardiac condition, arthritis and heavy metal poisoning constitute a hindrance or obstacle to employment or re-employment. *S.C. Ann. §42-9-400 (2001)*. Thus, the prerequisites of the Second Injury Fund needed to trigger reimbursement were proven by Appellant.

Reimbursement from the Fund is governed by *South Carolina Code Annotated Section 42-9-400*. In addition to providing timely notice of the reimbursement claim, a carrier/employer must establish four elements in order to be entitled to reimbursement. For a pre-July 1, 2007 claim, these elements include the following: (1) that the claimant had a preexisting permanent physical impairment/condition (*§42-9-400(a)*); (2) that the employer had knowledge of the preexisting impairment prior to the workplace injury (*§42-9-400(c)*); (3) that the preexisting impairment was a hindrance/obstacle to employment or re-employment (*§42-9-400(d)*); and (4) that the preexisting impairment combined with or was aggravated by the workplace injury to result in substantially greater disability than that which would have resulted from the subsequent injury alone (*§42-9-400(a)*).

Yuasa Exide, Inc. is entitled to reimbursement from the Fund because it was the last employer for which McConico worked. McConico was exposed to lead which aggravated pre-existing conditions caused by her previous employment with ESB, Inc. and the Exide Corporation. (R. pp. 139-140, 146-151 and 467).

By way of background, the initial owner of the Sumter Battery Plant was ESB, Inc. (R. pp. 308 and 310). The company began its battery manufacturing operations in Sumter in 1965.

McConico began working at ESB, Inc. in 1974. It was during this initial employment tenure at the battery manufacturing facility that McConico began experiencing problems with high blood pressure, cardiac disease, and heavy metal poisoning. (R. pp. 212-213).

In 1983, the Exide Corporation purchased the battery plant from ESB, Inc. (R. p. 212). McConico continued to work at the battery manufacturing facility as an Exide employee, despite diagnosed problems of hypertension and heavy metal poisoning, which warranted medical treatment. During McConico's employment at the Exide Corporation, she was also plagued with anemia and kidney problems. During this time, McConico underwent various x-rays and other diagnostic tests which revealed abnormalities of the heart. (R. pp. 168, 172, 177, 183 and 190). McConico had numerous abnormal electrocardiograms, which is evidence of cardiac disease. (R. pp. 168, 172, 179 and 183).

Despite the aforesaid problems, McConico was retained as an employee when Yuasa Battery, also known as Yuasa Exide purchased the Sumter battery manufacturing facility from the Exide Corporation on June 10, 1991.

The aforesaid chronology of events manifests the applicability of the Second Injury Fund statute in this instance. The purpose of the Second Injury Fund is to retain disabled workers who suffer with permanent disability and pre-existing medical conditions that are an obstacle or hindrance to employment and reemployment was fulfilled. Moreover, McConico's medical and employment history prove that the heavy metal poisoning and cardiac disease were not one continuous event but separate and distinct events transpiring over 25 years in which various levels of lead exposure are reflected - some harmful and injurious while other exposures were less pernicious.

C. FUNDING OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA SECOND INJURY FUND

The South Carolina Second Injury Fund is funded by assessments upon each carrier and self-insured employer. *S.C. Code §42-7-310(b)(2) (2015)*. Appellant, as is all carriers, authorized to transact business in this state:

“shall make payments to the fund in an amount equal to that portion of one hundred thirty-five percent of the total disbursement made from the Fund during the preceding fiscal year... The charge to each insurance carrier is a charge based upon normalized premiums. An employer who has ceased to be a self-insurer shall continue to be liable for any assessments to the fund on account of any benefits paid by him during such calendar year. Any assessment levied or established in accordance with this Section constitutes a personnel debt of every employer or insurance carrier so assessed and is due and payable to the Second Injury Fund when payment is called for by the fund....”

Appellant continues to pay Second Injury Fund assessments and has since 1991. Hence, the reimbursement does not come from the taxpayer or the state coffers, but rather from the employers and insurance carriers which fund the Second Injury Fund.

D. OSHA’S REGULATIONS AND POLICIES AND INDUSTRY STANDARDS REGARDING PERMISSIBLE EXPOSURE LIMITS TO LEAD

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