IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable W. Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

C.A. No.: 2013-CP-43-02284
Appellate Case No.: 2014-002215
WCC File No.: 9930459

RECEIVED

JUL 29 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Arrowpoint Capital Corporation / Arrowood Indemnity Co., Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Second Injury Fund, Respondent,

IN RE: Mary McConico, Employee,

v.

Yuasa-Exide, Inc., Employer and Arrowpoint Capital Corp. / Arrowood Indemnity Co., Carrier.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Timothy B. Killen
Willson Jones Carter & Baxley, P.A.
4500 Fort Jackson Boulevard
Columbia, South Carolina 29209

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE CARRIER'S CLAIM WAS BARRED FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF STATUTORY DEADLINES.**

- II. **IF THE CLAIM IS NOT BARRED, WHETHER THE COMMISSION AND CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT CARRIER FAILED TO SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS OF S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-9-400?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court's Order affirming a decision of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. The matter involves a demand for reimbursement by Arrowpoint Capital Corporation / Arrowood Indemnity Co., Inc. (collectively "Carrier") from the South Carolina Second Injury Fund ("Fund").

The case was initially heard by Commissioner Andrea C. Roche on August 13, 2012, per the issues as set forth on the Forms 54 and 55. At the hearing, the Fund asserted that, first and foremost, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2) stood as a bar to Carrier's claim for reimbursement. Alternatively, the Fund objected to the inclusion and consideration of Carrier's APA Submission Number 10, Post Yuasa Medical Records, were not submitted to the Fund on or prior to June 30, 2011, as required by the plain language of § 42-7-320(B)(2). R. pp. 44.

Alternatively, the Fund denied that Carrier met any of the requirement for reimbursement, specifically asserting that Claimant's heavy metal exposure, hypertension, and/or cardiovascular disease did not preexist her lead exposure. The Fund further denied that the alleged preexisting conditions were permanent and serious enough to constitute a hindrance or obstacle to Claimant's employment as per S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-400, as highlighted by Claimant's lengthy career.

In asserting its claim for reimbursement, Carrier alleged that it incurred substantially greater liability for compensation and medical benefits when employee Mary McConico's (Claimant's) alleged preexisting heavy metal poisoning, hypertension, and/or cardiovascular disease were either aggravated by or combined with her July 31, 1999, work-related injury to her brain, kidneys, cerebral vascular accident or stroke, and to his musculoskeletal, cognitive, neuropathic and cardiovascular systems, which was also caused by lead exposure. R. p. 43; Carrier's Form 58. Carrier also alleged that Claimant's alleged pre-existing conditions were a

hindrance or obstacle to employment. The Carrier asserted that the heavy metal or lead to which the Employer exposed the Claimant over the course of her employment was both the pre-existing permanent physical position and the aggravating/combining condition necessary for reimbursement from the Fund:

THE COURT: Your lead exposure is the injury that you're seeking – is the second injury that you're seeking?

MR. DUNBAR: It is the second injury, correct, and is also the aggravating injury. Now the Commission [in a previous matter] also took the position –

THE COURT: How can it be the aggravating injury? It's the second injury.

MR. DUNBAR: They also took the position – that was my argument as a defense attorney, how can it be aggravating, but they looked at it from a repetitive trauma standpoint.

R. pp.122 – 123; Hrg. Tr., p. 18, l. 22 – p. 19, l. 8.

The Single Commissioner issued her Order on December 19, 2012. In the order, she denied Carrier's claim for reimbursement on substantive grounds, finding that Claimant "did not have preexisting heavy metal poisoning, hypertension, or cardiovascular disease prior to her occupational exposure" and that "the occupational or heavy metal exposure is one injury." R. p. 52. The Single Commissioner further found "no combination or aggravation of the preexisting condition by the subsequent injury to create substantially greater medical costs and permanent disability," as required by § 42-9-400. The Single Commissioner further found the Claimant's questionnaires at APA pp. 9 – 14 were insufficient to support its claims. R. p. 53.

However, the Single Commissioner also ruled that that Carrier's apparent intentions to comply with S.C. Code § 42-7-320(B)(2) actually operated to satisfy the statutory requirement that Carrier submit documentation by a particular date. Both parties appealed to the Full Commission. Both parties appealed.

The matter was heard *en banc* by the Commission. On November 21, 2013, the Full

Commission promulgated a Decision and Order affirming the Single Commissioner's denial of reimbursement by reversing her findings regarding § 42-7-320(B)(2). R. pp. 22 – 39. Carrier timely appealed to the Sumter County Court of Common Pleas.

The Circuit Court affirmed the Commission's Order on September 5, 2014. R. pp. 1 – 21.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mary McConico worked for Employer for approximately twenty-five (25) years. R. p. 45. During that time, Claimant was exposed to lead as part of her working conditions.

More than a decade following her alleged date of accident, Carrier filed a claim for reimbursement from the Fund. R. p. 73. However, because the Fund was being closed, the Legislature established certain requirements for the submission of claims in the closing days. Particularly, per § 42-7-320, the Carrier was required to submit all necessary materials to the Fund on or before June 30, 2011. On that date, Carrier submitted a compact disc to the Fund. Appellants' Final Brief, p. 5. Apparently, Carrier *intended* to submit electronic copies of documentary material *via* the disc. However, there was not a single copy of any document on the disc, which contained only a single, 1Kb file. R. pp. 32, 350. The file on the disc was a simple hyperlink; the hyperlink connected to nowhere. As the Fund has since learned, if one is logged onto the Carrier's attorneys' computer system, the hyperlink may provide access to documents stored in the Appellants' counsel's database.

Because there were no copies of any documents on the disc, the Fund asserted that the documents were not submitted to the Fund on or prior to June 30, 2011. The Commissioner, however, ruled that the Carrier's intention to submit the documents satisfied the deadlines as set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2).

The Carrier has, however, presented evidence that the Employer exposed the Claimant to

unsafe levels of lead from the date that the Claimant began work with Employer. Then, years after the fact, Employer and Carrier settled the case with the Claimant on a doubtful and disputed basis. This Carrier has never paid a penny in medical care and treatment for this Claimant. R. p. 70; Form 19. This Carrier has never paid a penny in either temporary or permanent disability benefits to this Claimant. Form 19. However, this Carrier now demands to be paid the One Hundred and Ten Thousand Dollars (\$110,000.00) it paid in cash to both the Claimant and her lawyer to make this case go away. *Id.*

As a result of the monies paid pursuant to the doubtful and disputed settlement, Carrier alleged that it incurred substantially greater liability for compensation and/or medical benefits (neither of which it actually paid) when Claimant's alleged pre-existing heavy metal poisoning combined or aggravated the very conditions that it caused.

Essentially, the Carrier's argument is that: (1) the Claimant comes to work in the morning; (2) the Claimant is exposed to lead on the job; (3) the Claimant develops medical conditions as a result of the exposure to lead on the job; (4) the Claimant leaves work for the day; (5) the Claimant returns to work the next day; (6) the Claimant is again exposed to the same lead on the job; (7) the Claimant develops more medical conditions as a result of the continued exposure to lead on the job. According to the Carrier, because there is a continued exposure on day two (2), the exposure on day one (1) is now a pre-existing condition.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from the Commission, the Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law. Hamilton v. Bob Bennett Ford, 336 S.C. 72, 518 S.E.2d 599 (Ct.App. 1999); see also Etheredge v. Monsanto Co., 349 S.C. 451, 562 S.E.2d 679 (Ct.App. 2002). Where the issue is jurisdictional, including whether the Court and Commission has

subject matter jurisdiction to hear the case, the question is one of law. Gray v. Club Group, Ltd., 339 S.C. 173, 183, 528 S.E.2d 435, 440 (Ct.App. 2000). However, when the appeal is one on a matter of law, the Court may review that issue *de novo*. "As a result, this court has the power and duty to review the entire record and decide the jurisdictional facts in accord with its view of the preponderance of the evidence. Id.; see S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n v. Ray Covington Realtors, Inc., 318 S.C. 546, 459 S.E.2d 302 (1995).

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE CARRIER'S CLAIM WAS BARRED FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF STATUTORY DEADLINES.

The Fund asserts that the Commission and the Circuit Court were correct in law and in fact by requiring Carrier to abide by the statute governing the termination of the Second Injury Fund. The Fund further asserts that the Commission and the Circuit Court were correct in striking, from the record, Carrier's APA 10. Therefore, these materials are not before this Court. However, upon review of Appellants' Brief, Appellant liberally refers to those documents. However, as they are addressed in Appellants' Brief, reference is made below to the same.

A. SUNSET OF THE SECOND INJURY FUND

The Second Injury Fund is a state agency created by the Legislature to "encourage the employment of disabled or handicapped persons without penalizing an employer with greater liability if the employee is injured because of his preexisting condition." Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund, 318 S.C. 516, 518, 458 S.E.2d 550, 551 (1995) (citing Springs Industries v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund, 296 S.C. 359, 372 S.E.2d 915 (Ct.App.1988)). However, in 2007, the Legislature enacted legislation to effect the closure of the Second Injury Fund. See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320 ("Termination of the Second Injury Fund; schedule") reads as follows:

(A) Except as otherwise provided in this section, on and after July 1, 2013, the programs and appropriations of the Second Injury Fund are terminated. The State Budget and Control Board must provide for the efficient and expeditious closure of the fund with the orderly winding down of the affairs of the fund so that the remaining liabilities of the fund are paid utilizing assessments, accelerated assessments, annuities, loss portfolio transfers, or such other mechanisms as are reasonably determined necessary to fund any remaining liabilities of the fund. The Department of Insurance and the Workers' Compensation Commission may submit comments and suggestions to be considered by the State Budget and Control Board in planning for the closure of the fund. The State Budget and Control Board shall cause all necessary actions to be taken to provide appropriate staffing of the fund until such time as the staff services are no longer required to administer the obligations of the fund. The fund's administrative costs, including employee salaries and benefits, shall be paid from the Second Injury Fund Trust if the interest from the trust becomes insufficient to pay these obligations.

(B) After December 31, 2011, the Second Injury Fund shall not accept a claim for reimbursement from any employer, self-insurer, or insurance carrier. The fund shall not consider a claim for reimbursement for an injury that occurs on or after July 1, 2008.

(1) An employer, self-insurer, or insurance carrier must notify the Second Injury Fund of a potential claim by December 31, 2010. Failure to submit notice by December 31, 2010, shall bar an employer, self-insurer, or insurance carrier from recovery from the fund.

(2) An employer, self-insurer, or insurance carrier must submit all required information for consideration of accepting a claim to the Second Injury Fund by June 30, 2011. Failure to submit all required information to the fund by June 30, 2011, so that the claim can be accepted, compromised, or denied shall bar an employer, self-insurer, or insurance carrier from recovery from the fund.

(3) Insurance carriers, self-insurers, and the State Accident Fund remain liable for Second Injury Fund assessments, as determined by the State Budget and Control Board, in order to pay accepted claims. The fund shall continue reimbursing employers and insurance carriers for claims accepted by the fund on or before December 31, 2011.

(emphasis added). As you can see, the language chosen by the Legislature in crafting this law is mandatory: the “[f]ailure to submit all required information . . . by June 30, 2011 . . . shall bar . . . carrier from recovery” Id. However, for reasons outside the scope of that allowed by the statute, the Appellants request that the claim to proceed despite the Carrier’s failure to submit all required information to the Fund by the specified date.

B. FAILURE TO SUBMIT NECESSARY MATERIALS

The documents that were not timely submitted to the Fund were required by the Fund before it could consider reimbursement were narrative medical reports that would show whether the Claimant's disability or medical expenses were substantially increased due to the alleged pre-existing condition. R. p. 349; Fund APA p. 2; see Carrier's APA 10. Carrier was notified of the requirement of these documents on April 25, 2011. R. p. 349; Fund APA p. 2. Additionally, the Carrier's inclusion of these documents in its APA Submissions also indicates that these materials are necessary to recovery.

The Fund is aware of the sensitive issues raised by and through its argument; however, as a creature of statute, the Fund cannot choose to abide by parts of the statute governing it and to ignore others because compliance is uncomfortable. Clearly, the entirety of Section B sets deadlines that must be met in order to perfect a claim for Second Injury Fund recovery. By setting deadlines, the Legislature effected an orderly manner by which to close the agency. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B) sets forth a cut-off date for reimbursable injuries, July 1, 2008. If a carrier pays for compensable injuries occurring after that date, the "Fund shall not consider" that claim. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(emphasis added). S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(1) sets forth the last date that notice may be sent to the Fund. Notice sent after December 31, 2011 is not timely, and failure to provide timely notice "shall bar an employer, self-insurer, or insurance carrier from recovery from the fund." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(1)(emphasis added). S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2) is the section that is applicable here, and that section requires all necessary information to be submitted to the Fund by June 30, 2011. If a carrier fails to timely submit all necessary materials, such failure "shall bar" the Carrier "from recovery from the Fund." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2) (emphasis added).

This case involves statutory construction. "The cardinal rule of statutory construction is

that words used in a statute should be given their plain and ordinary meaning unless something in the statute requires a different interpretation.” Seckinger v. Vessel Excalibur, 483 S.E. 2d 775, 777, 326 S.C. 382, 387 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting Multimedia, Inc. v. Greenville Airport Comm'n, 287 S.C. 521, 339 S.E.2d 884 (Ct.App.1986)). The particular section under discussions, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-320(B)(2), involves two uses of mandatory language: these are the words “must” and “shall”. According to the Supreme Court, the word “shall” in a statute ordinarily means the action referred to is mandatory. TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 620, 503 S.E.2d 471, 476 n. 3 (1998). The statute does not allow wiggle room for a party’s good intentions inasmuch as a statute of limitations would.

According to the Supreme Court, “a court must abide by the plain meaning of the words of a statute. When interpreting the plain meaning of a statute, courts should not resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation.” State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 587, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011) (internal citations omitted). Further, “[w]here the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E. 2d 578, 581 (2000).

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